
1 Since commencement of the instant action, PREI has changed its name to Preferred Unlimited, Inc.
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2 In pertinent part, the RICO Act provides:

§ 1962. Prohibited activities

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person who has received any income derived, directly or indirectly,
e or invest, directly or indirectly, any part of such

income, or the proceeds of such income, in acquisition of any interest in, or the establishment or
operation of, any enterprise which is engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or
foreign commerce.
....

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in,
or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly
or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity ....

(d) It shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate any of the provisions of subsection (a)
... or (c) of this section.

18 U.S.C. § 1962(a), (c)-(d).
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3 Defendants have also filed an action against Plaintiff in the Court of Common Pleas, Montgomery
County, alleging abuse of process with respect to the instant action, breach of contract, tortious interference with
prospective economic relations, and defamation.
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§ 1962(a), (c)-(d).

As a general matter, Defendants contend that Plaintiff’s claims put into issue various

contractual disputes—e.g., disputes concerning interpretation of the Separation Agreement and the

limited partnership agreements, and the proper allocation of proceeds from various business

ventures—which, as a matter of law, do not amount to RICO violations. Defendants also argue that

Plaintiff’s Complaint suffers from several pleading deficiencies, mandating dismissal of his RICO

claims. Specifically, Defendants claim that Plaintiff has failed to allege (1) an injury caused by the

“use or investment” of racketeering income; (2) a RICO enterprise separate and distinct from



4 Other arguments set forth by Plaintiff in opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss will not be

discussed as there is sufficient basis to grant Defendants’ Motion.
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Defendants; (3) a RICO enterprise distinct from the alleged pattern of racketeering conduct; (4)

requisite predicate acts, namely mail and wire fraud; (5) a pattern of racketeering activity; and (6)

a substantive RICO violation to support a conspiracy claim.

and (4) a substantive RICO

violation to support a conspiracy claim.4 Having dismissed Plaintiff’s RICO claims and because

there exist no diversity jurisdiction, the Court will decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over

Plaintiff’s state law claims and dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint in its entirety.

A. Plaintiff’s RICO Claims

1. Section 1962(a) - Use or Investment of Racketeering Income

Defendants argue that Plaintiff has failed to allege an injury caused by the “use or

investment” of racketeering income required to state a claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a).

. Section

1962(a) makes it “unlawful for any person who has received any income derived ... from a pattern

of racketeering activity ... to use or invest” such income or the proceeds of such income to acquire,



5 The Third Circuit further stated that Sedima’s holding—“where the elements of a RICO violation are
present, the only injury necessary to confer standing on a plaintiff is injury flowing from the predicate acts”—is
limited to claims brought under § 1962, which makes it unlawful to conduct an enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity. Glessner v. Kenny, 952 F.2d 702, 709 (3d Cir. 1991) (citing Sedima, 473 U.S. at 495).
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establish, or operate an enterprise that affects interstate commerce. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a). Congress

enacted this provision in an attempt to halt investment of racketeering proceeds into legitimate

business. Brittingham v. Mobil Corp., 943 F.2d 297, 303 (3d Cir. 1991). A violation of § 1962(a)

“occurs not when the defendant engages in the predicate acts, but only when he uses or invests the

proceeds of that activity in an enterprise.” Id. at 304. Thus, to adequately plead a § 1962(a) claim,

the plaintiff must allege an injury stemming from the defendant’s use or investment of income

garnered from racketeering activity, distinct from an injury flowing from the predicate racketeering

acts, or allegedly fraudulent activities.5

or to fund the operations of other Affiliates

See

Plaintiff’s contention is flawed as

Plaintiff’s alleged injury flows solely from Defendant’s diversion of income to sources other than

Plaintiff, not from Defendant’s ultimate use or investment of the diverted income. See, e.g., Lugosch

v. Congel, 443 F. Supp. 2d 254, 271 (N.D. N.Y. 2006) (determining that dismissal of the plaintiff’s



8

§ 1962(a) claim was warranted because the plaintiff’s alleged injuries arose from “diversion of funds

away from their proper uses,” irrespective of where the funds were ultimately diverted). Because

Plaintiff has not articulated an injury specifically linked to use or investment of income garnered

from racketeering activity, Plaintiff has failed to state a claim under § 1962(a).

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's § 1962(c) claim must fail because Defendants are not

separate and distinct from the alleged enterprise. To state a claim under § 1962(c), the plaintiff must

allege that (1) a person conducted (2) an enterprise through (3) a pattern of (4) racketeering activity.

18 U.S.C. § 1962(c); Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496 (1985).

the RICO defendant or person to be separate and distinct from the

alleged enterprise.

An “enterprise” includes “any individual,

partnership, corporation, association, or other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals

associated in fact although not a legal entity.” Id. § 1961(4). An enterprise may include any union

or group of individuals associated in fact provided that the members of the de facto association

joined together in pursuit of a common purpose. United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 580
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(1981). However, "[i]f the members of the enterprise are the same as the persons, [§ 1962(c)’s]

distinctness requirement has not been met, as the ‘person' and the ‘enterprise' must not be identical.”

Zavala v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 447 F. Supp. 2d 379, 383 (D.N.J. 2006).

Here, Plaintiff alleges that each Defendant is a separate legal entity—natural person,

corporation, and several limited partnerships—each of which is capable of acquiring a legal or

beneficial interest in property. Plaintiff also alleges that collectively Defendants form an enterprise,

which Plaintiff defines as “a group of entities which together are associated in fact for the purpose

of engaging in a course of conduct, viz., the acquisition, management and sale of parcels of real

property which affect interstate commerce.” Complaint at 22.

; Zavala, 447 F. Supp. 2d at 383

A RICO plaintiff must allege that the

defendant engaged in statutorily-defined “racketeering activity,” commonly known as predicate acts
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or offenses. See 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(1), 1962; Annulli v. Panikkar, 200 F.3d 189, 192 (3d Cir. 1999)

(noting that only those acts defined as “racketeering activity” can serve as predicate offenses under

the RICO Act). Plaintiff claims that Defendants engaged in predicate acts of mail and wire fraud.

See id. § 1961(1), see also id. §§ 1341, 1343 (federal mail and wire fraud statues). To successfully

plead

. Lum v. Bank of Am., 361 F.3d 217, 220 (3d Cir. 2004). FED. R. CIV. P. 9(b) requires

that “[i]n all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be

stated with particularity. The purpose of Rule 9(b) is to provide notice of the “precise misconduct

with which defendants are charged” in order to give them an opportunity to respond meaningfully

to a complaint, “and to prevent false or unsubstantiated charges.” Rolo v. City Investing Co.

Liquidating Trust, 155 F.3d 644, 658 (3d Cir. 1998) (citing Seville Indus. Machinery v. Southmost
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Machinery, 742 F.2d 786, 791 (3d Cir. 1984)). To satisfy Rule 9(b), a plaintiff must “plead with

particularity the circumstances of the alleged fraud.” Rolo, 155 F.3d at 658 (citing Seville Indus.

Machinery, 742 F.2d at 791). Rule 9(b) “requires plaintiffs to plead ‘the who, what, when, where,

and how: the first paragraph of any newspaper story.’” In re Advanta Corp. Sec. Litig., 180 F.3d

525, 534 (3d Cir. 1999) (quoting DiLeo v. Ernst & Young, 901 F.2d 624, 627 (7th Cir. 1990)).

Plaintiffs need not, however, “plead the ‘date, place or time’ of the fraud, so long as they use an

‘alternative means of injecting precision and some measure of substantiation into their allegations

of fraud.’” Rolo, 155 F.3d at 658 (citing Seville Indus. Machinery, 742 F.2d at 791).

sent or caused to be sent to Plaintiff a series of mailings and five e-mails containing

false or misleading financial information regarding the Affiliates, including information calculated

to induce Plaintiff to either satisfy capital obligations or to refrain from challenging property

transactions involving the Affiliates. Complaint at 26

; Cooper, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14752, at *18 (“[A] general assertion of ‘fraud’ or some other
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bald assertion or legal conclusion provides no information of the precise misconduct alleged for

either the Court or the defendant and therefore is insufficient under Rule 9(b)”) (citing In re

Rockefeller Ctr. Properties, Inc. Secs. Litig., 311 F.3d 198, 216 (3d Cir. 2002); Shapiro v. UJB Fin.

Corp., 964 F.2d 272, 285 (3d Cir. 1992)); see also Morse, 132 F.3d at 906 & n.8 (stating that when

deciding a motion to dismiss, the court will accept as true well-pled factual allegations but will not

so accept legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations).

4.

.” “Any claim under section

1962(d) based on a conspiracy to violate the other subsections of section 1962 necessarily must fail

if the substantive claims are themselves deficient.” Cottman Transmission Sys., LLC v. Kershner,

536 F. Supp. 2d 543, 561 (E.D. Pa. 2008) (quoting Lightning Lube v. Witco Corp., 4 F.3d 1153,

1191 (3d Cir. 1993)). Here, Plaintiff claims that Defendants have conspired to violate sections 1962

(a) and/or 1962(c). Complaint at 35. Because Plaintiff has failed to allege claims under 1962(a)

and (c), his conspiracy claim under § 1962(d) must be dismissed.
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B. Plaintiff’s State Law Claims

Lastly, Defendant argues that the Court should decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction

over Plaintiff’s state law claims and dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint in its entirety. The supplemental

jurisdiction statute provides that where the district court has dismissed all claims over which it had

original jurisdiction, the court may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction. 28 U.S.C. §

1367(c)(3). As stated above, Plaintiff has failed to state claims under the RICO Act, namely §

1962(a), (c) and (d). What remains of Plaintiff’s Complaint are state law claims. Because all parties

are citizens of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, diversity jurisdiction does not exist. See id. §

1332. The Court, therefore, finds it appropriate to decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over

Plaintiff’s state law claims and dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint in its entirety.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court will grant Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss. An

appropriate order follows.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

ERIK E. KOLAR,

Plaintiff,

v.

PREFERRED REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENTS, INC., ET AL.,

Defendants.

:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:

CIVIL ACTION

NO. 07-3864

ORDER

AND NOW, this _____ day of June 2008, upon consideration of Defendants’ Motion to

Dismiss (Doc. 8), Plaintiff’s Response (Doc. 10), and Defendants’ Motion for Leave to File Reply

Brief and Reply (Doc. 11),

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED and DECREED that:

1. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 8) is GRANTED.

2. Defendants’ Motion for Leave to File Reply Brief (Doc. 11) is GRANTED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Clerk of the Court shall mark the above-captioned

case CLOSED.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Petrese B. Tucker
____________________________
Hon. Petrese B. Tucker, U.S.D.J.


